RECEIVED
May 18 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Cherokee County
Court of General Sessions

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000603

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....RESPONDENT,

v.

JOHN BENDARIAN BONNER APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Rosalind S.D. Major
Brianna L. Cruz
Leah M. Smith
Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred by failing to conduct a *de novo* sentencing hearing and failing to consider the juvenile sentencing factors set forth in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), as required by *State v. Smart*, 439 S.C. 641, 889 S.E.2d 573 (2023); *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. 14, 889 S.E.2d 590 (2023); and *State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 894 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 2023).
2. Whether the trial court erred in imposing a sixty-year sentence for a nonhomicide offense when imposing such a sentence was the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence, in violation of *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).
3. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for judicial recusal when the judge had made two prior sentencing determinations in Appellant's case indicating the judge's bias in favor of imposing the highest possible available sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2009, John Bendarian Bonner was convicted at a jury trial of burglary, 1st degree; kidnapping, 2nd degree; armed robbery; grand larceny, and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). Bonner's conviction arose from his involvement with seven co-defendants in a home-invasion robbery during which the perpetrators assaulted the resident of the home and obtained the keys to the next-door convenience store where the victim worked.¹ Several co-defendants left the home and entered the convenience store, ultimately robbing both the home and the store. Bonner was seventeen at the time of the offense. Since his conviction, Bonner has spent years seeking what juvenile nonhomicide offenders are entitled to under *Graham v. Florida*: a meaningful opportunity for release before he dies in prison. 560 U.S. 48 (2010) (holding the Eighth Amendment prohibits sentencing juvenile offenders to life without parole for nonhomicide offenses).

Bonner was initially sentenced by the Honorable J. Derham Cole, who imposed a sentence of life without the possibility of parole ("LWOP") for the burglary, 1st degree charge and concurrent sentences of 15 years for burglary, 2nd degree; 5 years for grand larceny, 30 years for kidnapping; and 30 years for armed robbery. Judge Cole also imposed a consecutive sentence of 10 years for ABHAN. On direct appeal, Bonner's LWOP sentence for first degree burglary was vacated and

¹ Bonner was one of eight individuals arrested for involvement in the offense. Joshua Manning, Labrontae Agnew, Kwane Douglas, Robert Wilson Jr., Kendrick Tate, Billy Rogers, and Terry Littlejohn were also arrested. While Bonner was only 17 at the time, several co-defendants, including Rogers, Wilson, and Tate, were 19 or older at the time. Tate, Willson, Douglas, and Rogers all agreed to cooperate with the State and testify against Bonner in exchange for being able to plea to common law robbery instead of armed robbery with the State informing the sentencing judge about their cooperation. Joshua Manning, who was 22 at the time of the offense, received a sixty-year sentence. Labrontae Agnew received a thirty-year sentence. The other co-defendants (Douglas, Wilson Jr., Tate, Rogers, and Littlejohn) all received sentences of 15 years or less for their involvement in the robberies and have completed those sentences.

remanded for resentencing in light of *Graham*. *State v. Bonner*, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 2012).

Bonner proceeded to resentencing and on January 23, 2013, Judge Cole imposed a 60-year sentence in place of the life without parole sentence for burglary. All other previously imposed sentences were left in place, including the consecutive 10-year sentence, resulting in a total sentence of 70 years. This sentence was affirmed on appeal after this Court found the issue of whether the newly imposed sentence violated *Graham* had not been preserved for review. *State v. Bonner*, Op. No. 2014-UP-401 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2014).

Bonner then sought post-conviction relief, alleging his resentencing counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the 70-year sentence as the functional equivalent of life without parole. The post-conviction relief court found resentencing counsel ineffective for failing to object to or file a motion to reconsider Judge Cole's imposition of the 60-year sentence, particularly in light of the 10-year consecutive ABHAN sentence. (R. p. 1–4). The State appealed the grant of post-conviction relief, and certiorari was denied by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. *John B. Bonner v. State of South Carolina*, No. 2017-000758 (S.C. Feb 20, 2019).

Bonner returned to the trial court for his second resentencing proceeding, again in front of Judge Cole. Bonner filed a motion requesting Judge Cole to recuse himself from the proceedings, arguing Judge Cole's impartiality was in question following his prior sentencing deliberations and decisions. In support of this motion, Bonner submitted that this would be the third sentencing proceeding in the same case before the same judge, who would be required to set aside his decisions from not one, but two prior sentencing determinations in conducting a *de novo* resentencing hearing. (R. p. 23). Judge Cole held a hearing on the motion for recusal and denied the motion by written order. (R. p. 511; R. p. 6).

On February 8, 2024, Judge Cole held Bonner’s second resentencing hearing.² (R. p. 531). At the hearing, the State presented Bonner’s incarceration records and the testimony from a friend of the victim. (R. pp. 537–52). Bonner presented evidence relevant to the juvenile sentencing factors set forth in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), through testimony from his mother, a close friend, and an expert in prison systems and inmate behavior, and a letter from one of Bonner’s children. (R. pp. 552–600). Bonner also made a statement to the Court. (R. pp. 601–04). At the conclusion of the evidentiary presentation, both Bonner and the State made arguments to the Court regarding sentencing. (R. pp. 604–18). The Court took sentencing under advisement. (R. pp. 618–19).

On August 16, 2024, Judge Cole issued a sentencing order reimposing a 60-year sentence on Bonner for burglary in the first degree and adjusting the 10-year consecutive ABHAN sentence to run concurrently with Bonner’s other sentences.³ (R. p. 10). On September 23, 2024, Bonner filed a motion for reconsideration. In his motion, Bonner asked Judge Cole to reconsider the 60-year sentence because it was the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence in violation of *Graham* and that in imposing the sentence, the court did not conduct a *de novo* sentencing hearing as required by both the post-conviction relief proceedings and juvenile sentencing law. The State filed its return on February 3, 2025, and on March 20, 2025, Judge Cole denied the motion to reconsider. (R. p. 15). This appeal follows.

² On February 5, 2024, in advance of this hearing, Bonner filed a resentencing procedure memorandum outlining relevant juvenile sentencing law and the life expectancies of incarcerated juveniles. (R. p. 27).

³ The parties were not served with this order until September 12, 2024.

ARGUMENT

I. **The trial court erred by failing to conduct a *de novo* resentencing hearing, the only adequate remedy for resentencing counsel’s deficient performance, and by failing to consider the *Aiken* factors as required by applicable juvenile sentencing case law.**

a. Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law.” *State v. Dawson*, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013) (internal citations omitted). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is “based on an error of law or grounded in factual conclusions without evidentiary support.” *State v. Perez*, 423 S.C. 491, 496–97, 816 S.E.2d 550, 553 (2018).

b. Argument

The trial court erred by failing to treat the matter before it as a *de novo* resentencing hearing, instead treating it as a motion to reconsider. When the PCR court correctly held that sentencing counsel’s deficiencies prejudiced Bonner by “den[ying] him of any meaningful opportunity to appeal this 60 + 10 year sentence,” (R. p. 3), the only appropriate remedy was a resentencing hearing. Based on existing precedent at the time of Bonner’s most recent hearing on sentencing, the trial court was required to review the facts of Bonner’s case anew, ignoring any prior sentence imposed. The trial court’s failure to do so, and deference to Bonner’s prior sentence, unconstitutionally prejudiced Bonner’s defense.

- i. The trial court erred by failing to treat the matter before it as a resentencing hearing because it was the only constitutionally adequate remedy for resentencing counsel’s deficient performance.

When post-conviction relief is granted based on counsel’s ineffective assistance, the relief should “remedy the precise prejudice” caused by counsel’s deficiency, *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C.

409, 414-15, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009), and “restore the status quo that existed before counsel’s deficient performance.” *See Garza v. Idaho*, 586 U.S. 232, 247 (2019) (remedy for an appeal lost because of counsel’s deficient performance is another chance to appeal). Where ineffective assistance is rendered at sentencing, the appropriate remedy is resentencing. *See, e.g., Castro v. State*, 417 S.C. 77, 789 S.E.2d 44 (2016) (remanding for resentencing when counsel failed to object to judge’s improper consideration of defendant’s exercise of jury trial right); *Boan v. State*, 388 S.C. 272, 277, 695 S.E.2d 850, 852 (2010) (remanding for resentencing when counsel failed to object to discrepancy between oral sentence and written order); *Dervin v. State*, 386 S.C. 164, 169, 687 S.E.2d 712, 714 (2009) (remanding for resentencing when counsel failed to object to a sentence that exceeded the statutory maximum).

In this case, the PCR court granted relief based on counsel’s deficient performance at resentencing. As such, the only remedy that would have restored Bonner to the position he was in before the constitutional violation was a new resentencing hearing. In treating the proceeding as a motion for reconsideration, the trial court improperly deferred to Bonner’s prior sentence.

- ii. Even if the case was properly before the court on a motion for reconsideration, the trial court erred by failing to apply the controlling law in effect at the time of the sentencing hearing.

Regardless of the label placed on the February 8, 2024, hearing, the PCR Court’s decision to grant Bonner relief reopened the sentencing judgment, requiring the trial court to apply the case law in effect at the time of the 2024 hearing. *See State v. Dingle*, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 S.E.2d 101, 104 (2008) (recognizing that “a court’s final judgment in a criminal case is the pronouncement of the sentence”). The trial court erred by failing to apply the requirements for juvenile sentencing set forth in *State v. Smart*, 439 S.C. 641, 889 S.E.2d 573 (2023), *Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. 14, 889

S.C. 590 (2023), and *State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 894 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 2023) to Bonner’s case.

When sentencing a defendant for an offense committed as a juvenile, the court *must* conduct a “specific and individualized” assessment of the “mitigating factors of youth” enumerated by *Aiken Jones*, 440 S.C. at 19, 889 S.E.2d at 593. Specifically, the sentencing court *must* consider five factors:

“(1) [T]he chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, [the offender’s] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender’s] incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.”

Aiken, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (citation omitted). As the *Aiken* Court explained, prior proceedings, even if they “touch[ed] on the issues of youth”, did not provide “the sort of hearing . . . where the factors of youth are carefully and thoughtfully considered.” *Id.* at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. In *Jones*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a sentencing court must consider the *Aiken* factors in *any* case where a juvenile is being sentenced in the court of General Sessions. *See id.* at 19, 765 S.E.2d at 593. As such, *Jones* required the trial court to extend *Aiken* to Bonner’s case and to conduct “an individualized hearing on [the] mitigating factors of youth.” *Jones*, 440 S.C. at 27, 889 S.E.2d at 598. The Supreme Court of South Carolina went on to elaborate in *State v. Smart*, 439 S.C. 641, 889 S.E.2d 573 (2023), on what is required procedurally in juvenile resentencing hearings where the *Aiken* factors are being considered. The *Smart* Court held that resentencing courts may give “no deference to [any] prior sentencing court’s decision” and instead must conduct a *de novo* sentencing of the defendant as if for the first time. *Id.* at 645, 889 S.E.2d at 575.

Here, the trial court failed to conduct a *de novo* sentencing as required by *Smart*, explicitly deferring to the prior sentence in its order. While trial court’s order started by recognizing that “[t]his matter is before the Court for *de novo* hearing on the defendant’s motion for the Court to reconsider a sentence,”⁴ (R. p. 10), the language of the order clearly indicates that the trial court’s review of Bonner’s case was *anything but de novo*: “[T]his Court finds that the record in this case does not persuade the court to alter or amend the sentence previously imposed for the defendant’s conviction for Burglary 1st Degree.” (R. p. 14). The trial court’s deference to Bonner’s prior sentence in plain violation of *Smart* prejudiced Bonner by depriving him of the *de novo* sentencing hearing he is entitled to.

Moreover, by failing to conduct a *de novo* sentencing hearing, the trial court added a second layer of constitutional harm. Since Bonner’s initial sentencing and resentencing were prior to *Aiken*, any prior proceeding would not have considered the *Aiken* factors, as it is now required to by *Jones*. Deferring to the prior proceedings simply results in Bonner once again being sentenced without consideration of the hallmark features of youth as required by *Aiken*, *Jones*, and *Smart*.

Additionally, in *State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 894 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 2023), this Court held that “[a]pplying the *Aiken* factors involves more than repeating the words; it requires applying the substantive content of those factors.” *Id.* at 544, 894 S.E.2d at 830. To satisfy this requirement,

⁴ At the hearing, the parties agreed the hearing was a resentencing hearing at which the Court was required to consider the *Aiken* factors. When the Court started the hearing by asking, “All right . . . Motion for reconsideration of sentence?” (R. p. 535). Bonner’s counsel responded, “Yes. We’re here on a resentencing proceeding for Mr. Bonner.” (R. p. 535). Neither the Court nor the State said otherwise. Moments later, Solicitor Barnette referred to the hearing as “this resentencing hearing.” (R. p. 536). In closing arguments, Bonner’s attorney stated: “It sounds like we all agree that the resentencing hearing is *de novo*, and I know we discussed that before.” (R. p. 604). At no point did the State disagree. In fact, Solicitor Barnette started his closing by agreeing: “I’m just going to focus on the Aiken factors. Also, Your Honor, *I do agree that’s where this hearing is going at*. It’s basically a hearing concerning that.” (R. p. 610) (emphasis added).

the trial court's order must "reflect a careful and thorough consideration of the *Aiken* factors" in coming to its sentencing decision. *Id.* at 545, 894 S.E.2d at 830.

In Bonner's case, the "findings" set forth in the court's order do not even begin to approach the level of consideration required. The trial court's order reflects no effort to apply the *Aiken* factors and is a perfect example of the mere repetition of words this Court prohibited in *Mack*:

Having considered the evidence presented at the hearing for reconsideration of sentence in mitigation and in aggravation of punishment, including the trial transcript, this Court has taken into account evidence presented relevant to (1) the chronological age of the defendant, (2) the family and home environment surrounding his existence, (3) the nature and circumstances of the offenses for which he was convicted, including the extent of his participation and any peer pressures, (4) his capacity and maturity at the time of the crimes, and (5) his potential for rehabilitation, this Court finds that the record in this case does not persuade the court to alter or amend the sentence previously imposed for the defendant's conviction for Burglary 1st Degree.

(R. p. 13–14). A resentencing court's consideration of a defendant's youth is inadequate when it merely states that it has considered all the *Aiken* factors without addressing "the hallmark features of youth, including 'immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate [] risks and consequence[s],'” *Mack*, 441 S.C. at 543, 894 S.E.2d at 829, and juveniles' "transient rashness, proclivity for risk, and inability to assess consequences.” *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 472 (2012). In *Mack*, this Court found the inquiry insufficient where the order only addressed factors with analysis that "could also be said about any seventeen-year-old facing a potential LWOP sentence.” 441 S.C. at 540, 894 S.E.2d at 828. Here, the trial court did far less, failing even to mention Bonner's age at sentencing in its order.

As to the second factor, *Aiken* "requires the court to consider the impact of *the defendant's* family and home environment *on his crimes.*” *Id.* at 544, 894 S.E.2d at 830 (the resentencing court's order did "not reflect the consideration required by *Aiken*" when it provided that "[the

defendant] grew up in a bad home environment, whereby he witnessed several traumatic events in his childhood[] and was affected by these events as well as many other things in his life” because the court “did not make findings as to how [the defendant’s] childhood affected *him*”). Here, the trial court merely stated it had considered Bonner’s family and home environment without providing any analysis, despite the substantial evidence that Bonner presented as to this factor: Bonner lacked positive male figures because his father was in and out of prison and absent for most of his youth. (R. p. 590, lines 15–19). Bonner’s mother was burdened by financial troubles following an injury that left her unable to work and Bonner’s brother’s cancer diagnosis. (R. p. 555, lines 6–21; p. 606, line 19–p. 607, line 1). The financial strain that that his brother’s treatment placed on the family forced them to move to the West End—a dangerous neighborhood where drug dealing was rampant. (R. p. 555, line 22–p. 556, line 12; p. 607, lines 2–10; p. 566, lines 14–19). At 15, Bonner dropped out of school to care for his newborn son and by 17, he had two children to care and provide for. Driven by the desire to provide for his children and help his mother finance his brother’s cancer treatment, Bonner began to associate with “the wrong crowd” of older men who showed him how to make “easy” money and influenced him to participate in criminal activity. (R. p. 607, lines 5–10). The evidence all applies to the second *Aiken* factor but was never considered by the trial court as required under current sentencing law.

Bonner also presented evidence on the remaining *Aiken* factors—the nature of the offense, the defendant’s capacity and maturity at the time of the offense, and rehabilitation potential. This evidence included testimony from his mother and friend about his immaturity at the time of the offense compared to Bonner’s present maturity level, as well as the testimony of an expert in prison systems and inmate behavior who evaluated Bonner and concluded that “[Bonner] has quite literally grown from adolescence to adulthood while incarcerated in the most difficult prison

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