RECEIVED

April 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Cherokee County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2025-000603

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHN BENDARIAN BONNER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

S.C. 641, 645, 889 S.E.2d 573, 575 (2023) (discussing the appropriate procedure to be followed when conducting an “Aiken resentencing hearing” and explaining “the *resentencing* court may give no deference to the prior sentencing court’s decision to impose life without parole” when conducting that specific type of hearing (emphasis added)); State v. Mack, 441 S.C. 526, 546, 894 S.E.2d 820, 830 (Ct. App. 2023) (remanding for “the resentencing court to consider all the Aiken factors” following an actual Aiken resentencing hearing).

And, in conducting his review of the previously-imposed sentence, the trial judge listened to testimony—including expert testimony—from multiple witnesses about Appellant and his behavior in the *decades* since he had reached adulthood, reviewed the records from the trial proceedings, and explicitly gave consideration to each and every one of the mitigating factors of youth that have been identified by our Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court. See Jones v. State, 440 S.C. 14, 25, 889 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2023) (directing trial judges to consider the mitigating factors of youth when sentencing a juvenile offender but further instructing: “While consideration of the factors enumerated in Aiken provides sufficient attention to actual juvenility, circuit court judges are *not required* to do so in a separate Aiken hearing when sentencing pursuant to this subsection.” (emphasis added)). Critically, only after giving de novo consideration to all that evidence and information did the trial judge decide not to alter the previously-imposed sixty-year aggregate sentence.²⁰ See Warren, 392 S.C. at 237-238, 708 S.E.2d at 235 (explaining a decision as to whether to reconsider or change a previously-imposed sentence rests exclusively within the trial judge’s discretion); cf. Smart, 439 S.C. at 648, 889 S.E.2d at 577 (concluding the resentencing judge conducted an appropriate individualized sentencing hearing where he considered the plea transcript and evidence concerning Smart’s

²⁰ Notably, the trial judge’s reconsideration of the previously-imposed sentence did result in Appellant’s ten-year ABHAN sentence no longer being a consecutive one. (R. p. 14).

crime, heard testimony from an expert and other witnesses, listened to arguments from counsel, and analyzed the pertinent sentencing factors before rendering his decision). Thus, the trial judge did exactly what he was supposed to do following the limited remand in Appellant's case, and he did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by virtue of the manner in which he handled the matter. See Jones, 440 S.C. at 31 n. 17, 889 S.E.2d at 600 n. 17 (directing trial judges to consider the relevant Aiken factors when sentencing juveniles for offenses such as first-degree burglary and armed robbery but "reiterat[ing]" that directive does not require trial judge to conduct a separate Aiken hearing pursuant to the procedures set out for such hearings); see also Ackerman, 324 S.C. at 443, 477 S.E.2d at 268 (instructing a trial judge has a duty to follow the decision of a remanding court). The trial judge's ruling and Appellant's aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or commit any other error of law by declining to reconsider Appellant’s aggregate term-of-years sentence of sixty years after Appellant—who, at the age of seventeen, planned and perpetrated a brutal home invasion and store break-in while armed with a pistol—was convicted of numerous distinct and highly-serious offenses because such a sentence was neither cruel, unusual, nor otherwise unconstitutional under the heinous circumstances involved despite Appellant’s age at the time of his crimes.

Appellant contends his aggregate sixty-year term-of-years sentence imposed for six different offenses he committed at seventeen years old was and is unconstitutional pursuant to the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), and, thus, the trial judge purportedly erred by imposing—and then declining to reconsider at a point in time *far* later than the outset of the case—such a sentence. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains his sixty-year sentence constitutes a de facto life sentence that will deny him a meaningful opportunity for release in his lifetime and, for that reason, argues his sentence was unconstitutional pursuant to the Eighth Amendment.²¹ Importantly though, neither the logic nor holding of the Graham decision was applicable to the facts and circumstances of Appellant’s case because the Supreme Court expressly limited its holding and analysis in Graham to cases in which a juvenile offender has been sentenced to an actual life without parole sentence for a non-homicide offense.²² Since Appellant is not serving such a life without parole sentence and,

²¹ Notably, Appellant has *not* challenged the constitutionality of his aggregate sentence on state constitutional grounds. See State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 726, 259 S.E.2d 120, 122 (1979) (“Exceptions not argued in appellants’ brief are deemed abandoned.”).

²² Based on statistics compiled by the federal government, the average projected life expectancy at birth in the United States is currently just under seventy-six years for a male. C.D.C. Life Expectancy Data, <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/life-expectancy.htm>. Additionally, according to data compiled by the Social Security Administration, a male citizen born on Appellant’s birthday would be expected to reach the age of eighty-one and nearly eighty-two. S.S.A. Life Expectancy Calculator, <https://www.ssa.gov/planners/lifeexpectancy.htm>. Furthermore, the General Assembly in South Carolina has determined an eighteen-year-old male, which was

instead, received separate term-of-years sentences for his many distinct crimes, a sentence like Appellant's was and is not categorically unconstitutional under the mandates of Graham. Furthermore, just as the trial judge recognized after considering Appellant's age along with all the other pertinent factors, Appellant's aggregate sixty-year sentence was warranted under the heinous circumstances involved despite his age due to the fact his terrible crimes did not reflect the mitigating qualities of youth and his subsequent actions since reaching adulthood did not demonstrate true rehabilitation or growth. As a result, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by declining to reconsider Appellant's sixty-year term of imprisonment for his numerous crimes, and that aggregate sentence was not unconstitutional in any way. Appellant's aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only, including when reviewing a challenge to the constitutionality of a sentence. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016). On appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a trial judge's sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances due to the broad discretion afforded to a trial judge on such matters. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952). Meanwhile, when reviewing a sentence to determine whether it is constitutionally proper, an appellate court will not disturb the sentencing judge's findings absent an abuse of

Appellant's age at the time he was *first* sentenced for his crimes, would be expected to live to the age of approximately seventy-seven years old. See S.C. Code Ann. § 19-1-150 (listing the projected life expectancies of men and women of different ages in a table that can be used "to establish the life expectancy of a person from any period in his life"). Meanwhile, based on the South Carolina statutory provision addressing the availability of release for individuals convicted of "no parole" offenses, Appellant would first be eligible for release after serving approximately fifty-one years of his sentence, which would mean he could be released when he was sixty-nine years old. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-150 (stating offenders convicted of "no parole" offenses must serve at least eighty-five percent of their sentences before being eligible for release).

discretion or the commission of an error of law. State v. Finley, 427 S.C. 419, 423, 831 S.E.2d 158, 160 (Ct. App. 2019).

Analysis

In South Carolina, trial judges are tasked with imposing a defendant's sentence upon conviction and are vested with broad discretion to carry out that duty within the applicable statutory limits. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). However, despite the broad discretion afforded to South Carolina's trial judges, the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution limits a trial judge's sentencing discretion by prohibiting the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. U.S. Const. amend. VIII. Pursuant to the ban on cruel and unusual punishment, a defendant's sentence must not be "barbaric" and must be graduated and proportioned to the offense in order to pass constitutional muster. Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 284 (1983); see Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002) (instructing it is a precept of justice the punishment for a crime should be graduated and proportioned to the offense). Importantly though, the ban "does not require strict proportionality between crime and sentence." Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001 (1991) (plurality opinion) (Kennedy, J., concurring); see State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 298, 741 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2013) (holding "Justice Kennedy's concurrence is the controlling law of Harmelin"). Instead, "it forbids only extreme sentences that are 'grossly disproportionate' to the crime." Harmelin, 501 U.S. at 1001 (Kennedy, J., concurring) (citations omitted).

In the case sub judice, Appellant has *not* been sentenced to a life without parole sentence for a non-homicide offense. See Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 63 (2010) ("The instant case concerns only those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense."); cf. Bonilla v. State, 791 N.W.2d 697, 703 (Iowa 2010) (recognizing a juvenile non-

homicide offender’s sentence violated the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution under Graham because it was a sentence of life without parole). Instead, Appellant received an aggregate sixty-year sentence for a multitude of distinct and gravely-serious crimes with all his individual sentences falling within the permissible sentencing limits for those offenses. See Lucero v. People, 394 P.3d 1128, 1133 (Colo. 2017) (“Multiple sentences imposed for multiple offenses do not become a sentence of life without parole, even though they may result in a lengthy term of incarceration. Life without parole is a specific sentence, imposed as punishment for a single crime, which remains distinct from aggregate term-of-years sentences resulting from multiple convictions. . . . If we were to consider instead the aggregate sentence, as Lucero argues we must, ‘the result would be the possibility that a defendant could generate an Eighth Amendment disproportionality claim simply because that defendant had engaged in repeated criminal activity.’ ” (citation omitted)); see also State v. Johnson, 350 S.C. 543, 547, 567 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[F]ew would argue that first-degree burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping are anything other than grave offenses of the ‘most serious’ nature.”). In fact, Appellant was only sentenced on average to a *ten-year* term of imprisonment for each offense when his total number of offenses is taken into account. Cf. State v. Slocumb, 426 S.C. 297, 310, 827 S.E.2d 148, 155 (2019) (“For these crimes, Slocumb received an average per-crime sentence of twenty-six years’ imprisonment.”). Therefore, because Appellant was *not*—after resentencing—sentenced to life without parole for a non-homicide offense, the decision in Graham did not render Appellant’s aggregate sentence unconstitutional. See Slocumb, 426 S.C. at 314-315, 827 S.E.2d at 157 (declining to find Slocumb’s aggregate one-hundred-thirty-year sentence for multiple offenses was violative of Graham); cf. United States v. Walton, 537 F. App’x 430, 437 (5th Cir. 2013) (recognizing neither the decision in Graham nor the decision in

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), was applicable to a discretionary term-of-years sentence).

In challenging the constitutionality of his sentence, Appellant—much like Conrad Slocumb before him—contends his aggregate sixty-year sentence was and is unconstitutional because it is purportedly the functional equivalent of a life without parole sentence even though he did not actually receive one. Based on that contention, Appellant—like Slocumb—effectively asks this Court to extend the Graham decision beyond its express limits, apply it to aggregate term-of-years sentences such as his own, and find his aggregate sentence to be categorically unconstitutional. Cf. Willbanks v. Dep’t of Corr., 522 S.W.3d 238, 246 (Mo. 2017) (“The Supreme Court has never held that consecutive lengthy sentences for multiple crimes in excess of a juvenile’s life expectancy is the functional equivalent of life without parole. The dissent acknowledges that its analysis is an extension of the law.”). However, just as a majority of our Supreme Court recognized in its Slocumb decision, the Graham decision cannot properly be—and should not be—extended beyond the express limits the United States Supreme Court placed upon its holding in that case. See Slocumb, 426 S.C. at 307, 827 S.E.2d at 153 (declining to extend the holding of Graham and recognizing “we are duty-bound to enforce the Eighth Amendment consistent with the Supreme Court’s directives”).

Critically, through its express language, the United States Supreme Court limited the decision in Graham to life without parole sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders alone. See Graham, 560 U.S. at 74 (holding the Eighth Amendment prohibits juvenile non-homicide offenders from being sentenced to life without parole sentences and indicating the holding is a “clear line”); cf. State v. Moore, 76 N.E.3d 1127, 1134 (Ohio 2016) (“The court did not address in Graham whether a term-of-years prison sentence that extends beyond an offender’s life

expectancy—a functional life sentence—falls under the Graham categorical bar.”). Because its focus was limited in that manner, the Supreme Court in Graham did not analyze any information regarding the number of jurisdictions with sentencing practices that permitted circuit court judges to sentence juvenile offenders to lengthy or consecutive term-of-years sentences exceeding the offenders’ projected life expectancies, and it was unnecessary for the Supreme Court to do so. See Bunch v. Smith, 685 F.3d 546, 552 (6th Cir. 2012) (“The [United States Supreme Court in Graham] did not analyze sentencing laws or actual sentencing practices regarding consecutive, fixed-term sentences for juvenile non-homicide offenders. This demonstrates that the Court did not even consider the constitutionality of such sentences, let alone clearly establish that they can violate the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments.”). Likewise, the Supreme Court in Graham also did not analyze or consider any information regarding the number of juvenile offenders across the country that had already been sentenced to and were actually serving term-of-years sentences that would exceed their natural life expectancies. See Vasquez v. Commonwealth, 781 S.E.2d 920, 925 (Va. 2016) (“Nowhere did Graham address multiple term-of-years sentences imposed on multiple crimes that, by virtue of the accumulation, exceeded the criminal defendant’s life expectancy.”). As a result, since the Supreme Court itself did not consider the constitutionality of term-of-years sentences in the Graham decision, the Supreme Court’s conclusions regarding life without parole sentences in that decision cannot fairly or reasonably be extended to a sentencing practice that was not analyzed, explored, or addressed by the Supreme Court.²³ See Graham, 560 U.S. at 124

²³ Significantly, the United States Supreme Court’s decision to specifically limit its holding solely to life without parole sentences likely resulted from the fact its analysis was confined to that type of sentence alone. See Hutto v. S. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co., 259 S.C. 170, 173, 191 S.E.2d 7, 8-9 (1972) (“It is, of course, settled law that ‘a case cannot be considered as a binding precedent on a legal point that was not argued in the case and not mentioned in the opinion.’ ”

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